
      

NO T ICE O F  MEET INGNO T ICE O F  MEET ING
CIT Y O F  G ARLAND, T EXASCIT Y O F  G ARLAND, T EXAS

PLAN CO MMISSIO NPLAN CO MMISSIO N
City  Hall,  Counc il ChambersCity  Hall,  Counc il Chambers

William E. Dollar  Munic ipal Build ingWilliam E. Dollar  Munic ipal Build ing
200 N. F if th Street200 N. F if th Street

G ar land, T ex asG ar land, T ex as
Marc h 10, 2025 at 6:30 p.m.Marc h 10, 2025 at 6:30 p.m.  

 
A meet ing of the Plan Commis s ion of the C ity  of  G ar land, T ex as  w ill be held at the aforementioned loc at ion, date, and t ime to dis c us s  and c ons ider  theA meeting of the Plan Commis s ion of the C ity  of  G ar land, T ex as  w ill be held at the aforementioned loc at ion, date, and t ime to dis c us s  and c ons ider  the
follow ing agenda items .follow ing agenda items .

INVO CAT IO N AND PLEDG E O F  ALLEG IANCE:  I t  is  the c us tom and tr adit ion of the members  of the Plan Commis s ion to hav e an inv oc at ion and rec ita lINVO CAT IO N AND PLEDG E O F  ALLEG IANCE:  I t  is  the c us tom and tr adit ion of the members  of the Plan Commis s ion to hav e an inv oc at ion and rec ita l
of  the Pledge of Allegianc e pr ior  to the beginning of the meet ing.  Members  of the audienc e are inv ited to par t ic ipate.  Howev er ,  members  of theof the Pledge of Allegianc e pr ior  to the beginning of the meet ing.  Members  of the audienc e are inv ited to par t ic ipate.  Howev er ,  members  of the
audienc e are not r equir ed to par t ic ipate.  T he dec is ion to par t ic ipate is  s tr ic t ly  a matter  of  pers onal c hoic e and has  no bear ing on matter s  to beaudienc e are not r equir ed to par t ic ipate.  T he dec is ion to par t ic ipate is  s tr ic t ly  a matter  of  pers onal c hoic e and has  no bear ing on matter s  to be
c ons idered by  the Plan Commis s ion and w ill not af fec t the dec is ions  to be made dur ing the meet ing.c ons idered by  the Plan Commis s ion and w ill not af fec t the dec is ions  to be made dur ing the meet ing.

T he meet ing w ill be broadc as t on C ity  of  G ar land G ov ernment Ac c es s  T elev is ion (CG T V) .  CG T V is  av ailable v ia G ar landT X.gov , c hannel 16T he meet ing w ill be broadc as t on C ity  of  G ar land G ov ernment Ac c es s  T elev is ion (CG T V) .  CG T V is  av ailable v ia G ar landT X.gov , c hannel 16
(Spec trum) , Channel 44 (F ront ier ) ,  and c hannel 99 (AT &T  U-v ers e) .   Meet ings  are broadc as t online v ia liv e- s tr eaming, on-demand, and air  on CG T V(Spec trum) , Channel 44 (F ront ier ) ,  and c hannel 99 (AT &T  U-v ers e) .   Meet ings  are broadc as t online v ia liv e- s tr eaming, on-demand, and air  on CG T V
with s ev eral r ebroadc as ts  dur ing the week  of the meet ing. w ith s ev eral r ebroadc as ts  dur ing the week  of the meet ing. 

Public  CommentsPublic  Comments

Your  c omments  mus t r e late to an item on th is  agenda -  non-germane c omments  are not in order .   T ime limits  w ill be impos ed by  the Chairman asYour  c omments  mus t r e late to an item on th is  agenda -  non-germane c omments  are not in order .   T ime limits  w ill be impos ed by  the Chairman as
appropr iate to the nature of the agenda item.  G enerally ,  public  s peak ers  are giv en three minutes .appropr iate to the nature of the agenda item.  G enerally ,  public  s peak ers  are giv en three minutes .  

IN-PERSO N CO MMENT S: Regis tr at ion w ill be r equir ed for  any  c it iz en w is hing to s peak . Speak ers  s hall r egis ter  us ing the elec tr onic  r egis tr at ion k ios k sIN-PERSO N CO MMENT S: Regis tr at ion w ill be r equir ed for  any  c it iz en w is hing to s peak . Speak ers  s hall r egis ter  us ing the elec tr onic  r egis tr at ion k ios k s
in the lobby  of C ity  Hall.in the lobby  of C ity  Hall.

G ar land C ity  Hall and Counc il Chambers  are wheelc hair  ac c es s ible.   Spec ial park ing is  av ailable on the eas t s ide of C ity  Hall and on Aus t in & StateG ar land C ity  Hall and Counc il Chambers  are wheelc hair  ac c es s ible.   Spec ial park ing is  av ailable on the eas t s ide of C ity  Hall and on Aus t in & State
Street wes t of  C ity  Hall.   Pers ons  w ith dis abilit ies  who plan to at tend th is  meet ing and who may  need aux iliar y  aids  or  s er v ic es  mus t c ontac t the C ityStreet wes t of  C ity  Hall.   Pers ons  w ith dis abilit ies  who plan to at tend th is  meet ing and who may  need aux iliar y  aids  or  s er v ic es  mus t c ontac t the C ity
Sec retar y 's  O ff ic e at ( 972)  205-2404 at leas t two work ing day s  pr ior  to the meet ing s o that appropr iate ar rangements  c an be made.  BRAILLE IS NO TSec retar y 's  O ff ic e at ( 972)  205-2404 at leas t two work ing day s  pr ior  to the meet ing s o that appropr iate ar rangements  c an be made.  BRAILLE IS NO T
AVAILABLE.AVAILABLE.

I f  the Plan Commis s ion adjourns  into ex ec ut iv e s es s ion dur ing th is  meet ing, the ex ec ut iv e s es s ion w ill be c onduc ted between and among the membersIf  the Plan Commis s ion adjourns  into ex ec ut iv e s es s ion dur ing th is  meet ing, the ex ec ut iv e s es s ion w ill be c onduc ted between and among the members
of the Plan Commis s ion and relev ant C ity  s taf f .   Public  ac c es s  to that meet ing is  prohibited by  State law.  of  the Plan Commis s ion and relev ant C ity  s taf f .   Public  ac c es s  to that meet ing is  prohibited by  State law.  
 

CO NSENT  AG ENDACO NSENT  AG ENDA 
 

All items  under  th is  s ec t ion are r ec ommended for  approv al by  a s ingle motion of the Plan Commis s ion, w ithout d is c us s ion. T he Chairman w ill announc eAll items  under  th is  s ec t ion are r ec ommended for  approv al by  a s ingle motion of the Plan Commis s ion, w ithout d is c us s ion. T he Chairman w ill announc e
the agenda and prov ide an oppor tunity  for  members  of the audienc e and the Plan Commis s ion to r eques t that an item be remov ed and c ons ideredthe agenda and prov ide an oppor tunity  for  members  of the audienc e and the Plan Commis s ion to r eques t that an item be remov ed and c ons idered
s eparately .s eparately .
      

1.1. MINUTESMINUTES   

 

a.a. Consider approval of the Plan Commission Minutes for the February 24, 2025 meeting. 
 

2.2. PLATSPLATS   

 

a.a. P 25-03 Kiddie Academy, Brand 190 Addition Fifth Replat - Final Plat 
 



      

ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATIONITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION 
 

Speaker Regulations:Speaker Regulations:

Anyone wishing to speak for, against, or on agenda items must fi l l out a speaker card and giveAnyone wishing to speak for, against, or on agenda items must fi l l out a speaker card and give
it to the Plan Commission Secretary before speaking (cards are located at the entrance to theit to the Plan Commission Secretary before speaking (cards are located at the entrance to the
Council Chambers).  The Chairman will recognize speakers; he may impose a time limit andCouncil Chambers).  The Chairman will recognize speakers; he may impose a time limit and
may provide for rebuttal.  All comments and testimony are to be presented from the podium.may provide for rebuttal.  All comments and testimony are to be presented from the podium.

  

 

3.3. ZONINGZONING   

 

a.a. Hold a public hearing and consider the application of Tarmandeep ToorTarmandeep Toor , requesting approval of 1) a
Change in Zoning to a Planned Development (PD) District for Neighborhood Services (NS) Uses and
Convenience Store Use, 2) A Specific Use Provision (SUP) for a Fuel Pumps, Retail Use, and 3) a Concept
Plan for a Convenience Store with Fuel Pumps, Retail and shopping center. The site is located at 4151
North Garland Avenue. (District 7) (File Z 24-18)

 

b.b. Hold a public hearing and consider the application of David Najafi and Bobtown Enterprises Inc.David Najafi and Bobtown Enterprises Inc. ,
requesting approval of a Change in Zoning from Community Office (CO) to Community Retail (CR). (District
3) (File Z 25-04)

 

c.c. Hold a public hearing to consider amendments to Chapter 2, Article 5 Use Regulations, Chapter 2,
Attachment 1 -- Land Use Matrix as it relates to Commercial Drone Delivery Hub, and Chapter 6
Definitions.  

 

4.4. ADJOURNADJOURN   

 

NOTICE: The Plan Commission may recess from the open session and convene in a closed session if the discussion of any of the listed agenda items concerns matters regarding
priviledged and unpriviiledged client information deemed confidential by Rule 1.05 of the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct.  Sec. 551.071, Tex. Gov't Code.

NOTE: A quorum of the City Council may be in attendance and may or may not participate in the discussions of the Committee or board.



GARLANDGARLAND   
  

  
Plan CommissionPlan Commission 1. a. 1. a.             
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 03/10/2025  
Item Tit le:Item Tit le: Plan Commission Minutes for February 24, 2025
Summary:Summary:
Consider approval of the Plan Commission Minutes for the February 24, 2025 meeting. 

AttachmentsAttachments
February 24, 2025 Plan Commission Minutes



MIN UT ESMINU T ES
 

 
The Plan Commission of the City of Garland convened in regular session at 6:30 p.m. on Monday, February 24, 2025, in the Council Chambers at the William E. Dollar Municipal
Building, 200 N. Fifth Street, Garland, Texas, with the following members present:

Present: Scott Roberts, Chairman  
Julius Jenkins, 1st Vice Chair  
Wayne Dalton, 2nd Vice Chair  
Stephanie Paris, Commissioner  
Georgie Cornelius, Commissioner  
Jaric Jones, Commissioner  
Patrick Abell, Commissioner  
Michael Rose, Commissioner  
Bob Duckworth, Commissioner  

Staff Present: Nabila Nur, Planning Director
Kurt Banowsky, Sr. Assistant City Attorney II
Emma Chetuya, Planning Administrator - Development
Matthew Wolverton, Planner II
Elisa Morales, Recording Secretary

 
C O NSENT  AG EN DAC O NSEN T  AG END A  

 
All items  under  th is  s ec t ion ar e  r ec ommended for  appr ov a l by  a  s ing le  mot ion o f  the Plan C ommis s ion,  w ithout  d is c us s ion.  T he C hair man w ill announc eAll items  under  th is  s ec t ion ar e  r ec ommended for  appr ov a l by  a  s ing le  mot ion o f  the Plan C ommis s ion,  w ithout  d is c us s ion.  T he C hair man w ill announc e
the agenda and pr ov ide an oppor tun ity  for  member s  o f  the aud ienc e and the Plan C ommis s ion to  r eques t  that  an item be r emov ed and c ons ider edthe agenda and pr ov ide an oppor tun ity  for  member s  o f  the aud ienc e and the Plan Commis s ion to  r eques t  that  an item be r emov ed and c ons ider ed
s epar ate ly .s epar ate ly .

Mot ionMot ion  was made by Commissioner Dalton to appr ov eappr ov e  the Consent Agenda as presented. Seconded by Commissioner Paris. Mot ion c ar r iedMot ion c ar r ied : 99  Ayes, 00  Nays. 
 
        

1.1. MINUTESMINUTES  
 

a.a. Consider approval of the Plan Commission Minutes for the February 10, 2025 meeting. APPROVEDAPPROVED   

 



        

ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATIONITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION 
 

Speaker Regulations:Speaker Regulations:

Anyone wishing to speak for, against, or on agenda items must f i l l  out a speakerAnyone wishing to speak for, against, or on agenda items must f i l l  out a speaker
card and give it to the Plan Commission Secretary before speaking (cards arecard and give it to the Plan Commission Secretary before speaking (cards are
located at the entrance to the Council Chambers).  The Chairman will recognizelocated at the entrance to the Council Chambers).  The Chairman will recognize
speakers; he may impose a t ime limit and may provide for rebuttal.  All commentsspeakers; he may impose a t ime limit and may provide for rebuttal.  All comments
and testimony are to be presented from the podium.and testimony are to be presented from the podium.

 

 

2.2. ZONINGZONING  
 

a.a. Consideration of the application of Nayeb Management, LLC.Nayeb Management, LLC. , requesting approval of 1) a
Specific Use Provision for a Tattooing/Body Piercing Establishment Use on a property zoned
Planned Development (PD) District 82-59 and 2) a Concept Plan for a Tattooing/Body Piercing
Establishment Use. The site is located at 1350 Northwest Highway, Suite #107. (District 5) (File
Z 24-29)

Planner II, Matthew Wolverton, presented the request to the Commission and remained
available for questions. 

The applicant's, Cynthia Olalde, 2741 Stoneridge Dr., Garland, TX 75044 and Olver Reyes, 1300
Rockcliff, Plano, TX 75093, provided an overview of the request and remained available for
questions. 

The Commission asked several questions regarding enforcement of the proposed use, hours of
operation and reason for staff's denial recommendation. 

MotionMotion was made by Commissioner Rose to denydeny  the application as presented. Seconded by
Commissioner Duckworth. Motion failedMotion failed: 66 Ayes, 33 Nays with Commissioners Roberts, Rose
and Duckworth in opposition.

MotionMotion was made by Commissioner Abell to approveapprove the application as presented with a 5-
year SUP, hours of operation of 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. Monday-Friday and with additional screening
requirements. Seconded by Commissioner Cornelius. Motion carr iedMotion carr ied: 88 Ayes, 11 Nay with
Commissioner Rose in opposition. 

APPROVEDAPPROVED   

 

b.b. Consideration of the application of Development Engineering Consultants, LLC.Development Engineering Consultants, LLC. , requesting
approval of 1) an Amendment to Planned Development (PD) District 00-39 for a Landscape
Nursery (retail) Use and 2) a Concept Plan for a Landscape Nursery (retail) Use. The site is
located at 4400 North President George Bush Highway. (District 3) (File Z 24-41)

Planner II, Matthew Wolverton, presented the request to the Commission and remained
available for questions.

The Civil Engineer, Daniel Stewart, 5300 Town & Country Blvd., Ste. 150, Frisco, TX 75034,
provided an overview of the request and remained available for questions. 

The Commission asked several questions regarding other potential uses of the land and the
hours of operation. 

MotionMotion was made by Commissioner Jenkins to close the public hearing. Seconded by
Commissioner Paris. Motion carr iedMotion carr ied: 99 Ayes, 00 Nays. 

There was discussion by the Commission whether the proposed development would be the best
use of the land. 

MotionMotion was made by Commissioner Jenkins to denydeny  the application as presented. Seconded
by Commissioner Dalton. Motion carr iedMotion carr ied: 55 Ayes, 44 Nays with Commissioners Duckworth,
Rose, Abell and Jones in opposition.  

DENIEDDENIED   

 



        

c.c. Consideration of the application of Hugo Olvera GalindoHugo Olvera Galindo, requesting approval of 1) a Specific
Use Provision for a Tattooing/Body Piercing Establishment Use on a property zoned Planned
Development (PD) District 76-15 and 2) a Concept Plan for a Tattooing/Body Piercing
Establishment Use. The site is located at 977 West Centerville Road. (District 5) (File Z 23-38)

Planner II, Matthew Wolverton, presented the request to the Commission and remained
available for questions.

The applicants, Hugo Olvera Galindo and Perla Olvera Galindo, 977 W. Centerville Road,
Garland, TX, provided an overview of the request and remained available for questions. 

The Commission asked several questions regarding the hours of operation and if the applicant
was subletting the designated space.

The applicant confirmed they are subletting the designated space and are flexible with their
hours of operation pending approval of their request. 

MotionMotion was made by Commissioner Abell to close the public hearing. Seconded by
Commissioner Cornelius. Motion carr iedMotion carr ied: 99 Ayes, 00 Nays.  

There was discussion by the Commission on whether the proposed SUP would apply to the
entire suite or to just the proposed space within the suite. 

Staff clarified that the Concept Plan would be attached to the ordinance which would be specific
on the proposed use and location within the suite. 

MotionMotion was made by Commissioner Abell to approveapprove the application as presented with a 3-
year SUP and hours of operation of 10 a.m. to 6 p.m. Monday - Saturday. Seconded by
Commissioner Cornelius. Motion carr iedMotion carr ied: 77 Ayes, 22 Nays with Commissioners Jenkins and
Rose in opposition.

APPROVEDAPPROVED   

 

d.d. Hold a public hearing to consider amendments to Chapter 2, Division 5 Telecommunications
Towers and Antennas and Chapter 2, Attachment 1 -- Land Use Matrix as it relates to Antenna,
Commercial use.

Planning Director, Nabila Nur, provided an overview of the amendments to Chapter 2, Division 5
Telecommunications Towers and Antennas and Chapter 2, Attachment 1 -- Land Use Matrix as
it relates to Antenna, Commercial use and remained available for questions. 

MotionMotion was made by Commissioner Rose to approveapprove the amendment as presented. Seconded
by Commissioner Dalton. Motion carr iedMotion carr ied: 99 Ayes, 00 Nays. 

APPROVEDAPPROVED   

 

e.e. Hold a public hearing to consider amendments to Chapter 2, Article 5 Use Regulations, Chapter
2, Attachment 1 -- Land Use Matrix as it relates to Commercial Drone Delivery Hub, and
Chapter 6 Definitions.

Planning Director, Nabila Nur, provided an overview of the amendments to Chapter 2, Article 5
Use Regulations, Chapter 2, Attachment 1 -- Land Use Matrix as it relates to Commercial
Drone Delivery Hub, and Chapter 6 Definitions and remained available for questions.

The Commission asked several questions regarding the proposed amendment and staff
addressed their questions. 

MotionMotion was made by Commissioner Paris to postponepostpone the amendment as presented until the
March 10, 2025 Plan Commission meeting. Seconded by Commissioner Abell. Motion carr iedMotion carr ied:
99 Ayes, 00 Nays. 

POSTPONEDPOSTPONED   

 



        

3.3. MISCELLANEOUSMISCELLANEOUS  
 

a.a. Discuss an upcoming city-initiated rezoning case in South Garland. 

The Commission received an update on a future city-initiated rezoning case in South Garland. No action was
required. 

 

 

4.4. ADJOURNADJOURN

There being no further business to come forward before the Plan Commission meeting, the meeting adjourned
at 8:42 p.m. 

 

 
CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS  

 
/s/ Scott Roberts, Chairman  /s/ Elisa Morales, Secretary



GARLANDGARLAND   
  

  
Plan CommissionPlan Commission 2. a. 2. a.             
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 03/10/2025  
Item Tit le:Item Tit le: P 25-03 Kiddie Academy, Brand 190 Addition Fifth Replat - Final Plat 
Summary:Summary:
P 25-03 Kiddie Academy, Brand 190 Addition Fifth Replat - Final Plat 

AttachmentsAttachments
P 25-03 Kiddie Academy, Brand 190 Addition Fifth Replat - Final Plat Report & Attachments



Planning Report 
File No: P 25-03 /District 1 
Agenda Item: 
Meeting: Plan Commission 
Date: March 10, 2025 
 
FINAL PLAT 
Brand/190 Addition Fifth Replat 
 
LOCATION 
4812 N George Bush Highway 
 
ZONING 
Planned Development District (PD) 24-19 and Specific Use Provision (SUP) for a Day Care, 
Youth- Licensed Child-Care Center use 
 
NUMBER OF LOTS 
One (1) Lot. 

 
ACREAGE 
1.5 acres 
 
BACKGROUND 
The purpose of this final plat is to create easements and construct a daycare. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Approval of the Final Plat. All technical requirements have been addressed and the plat is in 
order as submitted. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
i. Location Map 
ii. 24 x 36 Plat  
 
PREPARED BY:      
Emma Chetuya Ph.D., AICP 
Planning Administrator Planner II  
Planning & Development 
972-205-2453 
echetuya@garlandtx.gov 
  
  
   
  
 
 
 

mailto:echetuya@garlandtx.gov


FA
IR

W
AY

 L
AKES D

R

RIVER OAKS PKW
Y

N GEORGE BUSH

SERVICE RD E

4840

4880

4802

4812

4880

4880

4880

4880

4880

4822

¯
0 75 150 Feet PLAT MAP P 25-03 INDICATES AREA

OF REQUEST

4812 N George Bush Hwy





GARLANDGARLAND   
  

  
Plan CommissionPlan Commission 3. a. 3. a.             
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 03/10/2025  
Item Tit le:Item Tit le: Z 24-18 Tarmandeep Toor (District 7)
Summary:Summary:
Hold a public hearing and consider the application of Tarmandeep ToorTarmandeep Toor , requesting approval of 1) a Change in
Zoning to a Planned Development (PD) District for Neighborhood Services (NS) Uses and Convenience Store Use,
2) A Specific Use Provision (SUP) for a Fuel Pumps, Retail Use, and 3) a Concept Plan for a Convenience Store with
Fuel Pumps, Retail and shopping center. The site is located at 4151 North Garland Avenue. (District 7) (File Z 24-18)

AttachmentsAttachments
Z 24-18 Tarmandeep Toor Report & Attachments
Z 24-18 Tarmandeep Toor Responses



 

Planning Report 
File No: Z 24-18/District 7 
Agenda Item: 2 
Meeting: Plan Commission 
Date: March 10, 2025 
 
REQUEST 
Hold a public hearing and consider approval of 1) a Change in Zoning to a Planned 
Development (PD) District for Neighborhood Services (NS) Uses and Convenience Store 
Use, 2) A Specific Use Provision (SUP) for a Fuel Pumps, Retail Use, and 3) a Concept Plan 
for a Convenience Store with Fuel Pumps, Retail and shopping center. 
 
LOCATION 
4151 North Garland Avenue 
 
APPLICANT 
Tarmandeep Toor 
 
OWNER 
Michael Holigan 
 
BACKGROUND 
The subject property is currently an undeveloped tract of land within Planned Development 
(PD) District 16-35. The Planned Development District was created with six (6) different 
tracts allowing for a variety of uses. This site is tract three (3) which only allows Elder Care-
Independent Living. The applicant is proposing a rezoning which will allow for Fuel Pumps, 
Retail and an attached shopping center with multiple suites containing a convenience store. 
The Convenience Store Use is allowed by SUP within the Neighborhood Services (NS) 
District and the applicant is requesting it to be allowed by right. 

SITE DATA 
The subject site is a 2.66-acre undeveloped tract of land and has approximately 460 linear 
feet of frontage along North Garland Avenue and 223 curvilinear feet along Arapaho Road. 
The site can be accessed from one point along North Garland Avenue and one point along 
Arapaho Road. 

USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING 
The site is zoned Planned Development (PD) District 16-35. This site’s base zoning is Multi-
Family-1 (MF-1). The multifamily district is an attached residential district intended to 
promote stable, quality, attached-occupancy residential development in livable, sustainable, 
and compact residential communities at a maximum density of eighteen dwelling units per 
acre. The principal allowed land uses include low-rise to mid-rise multiple-family dwelling 
structures that are renter-occupied or owner-occupied (as in condominiums). Recreational, 
religious, health, and educational uses normally located to serve residential areas are also 
allowed in this district. This district should be located adjacent to an arterial or collector 
street and can serve as a buffer between nonresidential development or heavy automobile 
traffic and medium-density or low-density residential development. This district 
accommodates a variety of housing types including triplexes, quadplexes, apartments, and 
condominiums. The MF-1 district, as mentioned in certain sections of the Garland 
Development Code, is intended to accommodate standard multifamily development. 
 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 
CONSIDERATIONS  
 
Planned Development:  
   
1. The applicant is requesting the base zoning to be changed to the Neighborhood Services 

(NS) District. 
2. In addition to this, the applicant is requesting the Convenience Store Use to be allowed 

by right, and the Fuel Pumps, Retail to be allowed by Specific Use Provision (SUP) 
 
Specific Use Provision:  
 

1. The applicant is requesting the SUP to be twenty-five (25) years. The SUP time 
period guide recommends a period of 20-25 years. 
 

CONDITIONS 
The Plan Commission and City Council may attach conditions to the Specific Use Provision to 
mitigate adverse effects of the proposed use and to carry out the intent of this Section.  
 
Conditions may include any, or a combination, of the following: 
(1) Limitation of building size or height; 
(2) Increased open space; 
(3) Limitations on impervious surfaces; 
(4) Enhanced loading and parking requirements; 
(5) Additional landscaping, sidewalk, screening, vehicular access and parking 
improvements; 
(6) Placement or orientation of buildings and entryways; 
(7) Buffer yards, landscaping and screening; 
(8) Signage restrictions and design; 
(9) Limitation on operation or function of proposed use (for example, hours of operation); 
(10) Limitation on the effective time period for an SUP; or 
(11) Any other criteria to safeguard and protect public health, safety, and welfare. 

 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Future Land Use Map of the Envision Garland Plan recommends Urban Neighborhoods 
for the subject site. Urban neighborhoods are higher density residential developments that 
may utilize mixed-use integrated into the surrounding area. 
 
It is envisioned that retail centers such as these promote a mix of uses which promote 
placemaking and desirable destinations, built around the pedestrian. This location is meant 
to be integrated into the larger urban Planned Development (PD) District. Although the 
proposed Convenience Store and Neighborhood Services uses are in general conformance 
with the comprehensive plan, the Fuel Pumps are not. The site’s layout also lacks 
pedestrian-oriented design elements. These elements include locating the building toward 
the front of the property with parking in the back along with additional landscaping located 
along street frontages. Such placemaking principles encourage walkability and increase 
perceived safety for residents, making the proposed zoning change in line with the 
comprehensive plan. 
 
COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES 
The property to the North is zoned Planned Development (PD) District 16-13 for Mixed Uses, 
lying within tract two (2), containing a Multi-Family development. The property to the East 
is zoned Planned Development (PD) District 20-37 for Mixed Uses, lying within tract four 
(4), containing a Multi-Family development. The properties to the West are zoned 
Agricultural District (AG), Planned Development (PD) District 86-74, and Planned 



Page 3 of 3 
 
Development (PD) District 92-33 containing an empty lot, townhomes, and a day care 
facility. The property to the South is zoned Agricultural (AG) District and contains Winters 
Park. The surrounding uses are largely restaurant or retail. The Convenience Store and 
shopping center is generally compatible with the surrounding area’s zoning and land use but 
lacks pedestrian oriented conditions. The Fuel Pumps are not compatible with the 
surrounding area. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
While the proposed Convenience Store and shopping center are consistent with the Future 
Land Use Map, the Fuel Pumps are not. In addition, a lack of pedestrian oriented conditions 
for the development is inconsistent with the comprehensive plan. Staff recommends denial 
of 1) a Change in Zoning to a Planned Development (PD) District for Neighborhood Services 
(NS) Uses, 2) A Specific Use Provision (SUP) for a Fuel Pumps, Retail Use, and 3) a Concept 
Plan for a Convenience Store with Fuel Pumps, Retail and shopping center. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
i. Location Map 
ii. PD & SUP Conditions 
iii. Concept Plan 
iv. Site Photos 
 
CITY COUNCIL DATE: April 01, 2025 
 
PREPARED BY:     REVIEWED BY: 
Matthew Wolverton Emma Chetuya Ph.D., AICP 
Planner II Planning Administrator 
Planning & Development Planning and Development 
972-205-2454 972-205-2453 
mwolverton@garlandtx.gov  echetuya@garlandtx.gov 

mailto:mwolverton@garlandtx.gov
mailto:echetuya@garlandtx.gov


39143916

P D  8 3 - 1 3 7P D  8 3 - 1 3 7

39183920

P D  8 3 - 1 3 7P D  8 3 - 1 3 7

3946394439423940
39383936393439323930

FA
NNIN

 D
R

PI
C

KE
TT

 P
L

SWORD DR

LA
NC

EC
RE

ST
 D

R

SW
IS

HE
R 

PL

ARAPAHO RD

STONECASTLE DR

N G
ARLA

ND AV
E

BR
OKE

N
BO

W
 L

N

SPRING CREEK WY

W
HI

TE
 S

W
AN

 D
R

BRANDON

PARK DR

SP
R

IN
G

 C
R

EE
K 

D
R

P D  0 3 - 5 1P D  0 3 - 5 1 P D  8 3 - 1 3 7P D  8 3 - 1 3 7

P D  9 2 - 3 3P D  9 2 - 3 3

S F - 7S F - 7

P D  8 4 - 8 0P D  8 4 - 8 0

N ON O

N ON OC RC R

P DP D
8 3 - 28 3 - 2

P D  8 4 - 7 7P D  8 4 - 7 7

A GA G

A GA G

P DP D
8 6 - 7 48 6 - 7 4

A GA G

P D  2 0 - 3 7P D  2 0 - 3 7

P DP D
2 1 - 0 12 1 - 0 1

P D  2 1 - 0 1P D  2 1 - 0 1

P D  1 6 - 1 3P D  1 6 - 1 3

P DP D
1 6 - 3 51 6 - 3 5

P D  2 2 - 8 0P D  2 2 - 8 0P D  2 2 - 8 0P D  2 2 - 8 0

4005

3928

4009

3931

3924

4013

3947

4098

3935

1601

39433951

4105

4096

3959

1966

3939

4001

3955

3900

3929

1950

1902

4501

44554445

4475

4375

4355

4285

4295

1961

1965

1969

1975

1979

4151

ZONING MAP Z 24-18
¯

0 175 350 Feet
1 inch = 306 feet

4151 North Garland Avenue

INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST



EXHIBIT B 
 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 
 
 

ZONING FILE Z 24-18 
 

4151 North Garland Avenue 
 

[Requested by the Applicant] 
 

 
I. Statement of Purpose: The purpose of this Planned 

Development (PD) is to allow and regulate the 
development of a Convenience Store with Fuel Pumps, 
Retail Use. 

 
 
II. Statement of Effect:  This Planned Development shall not 

affect any regulation found in the Garland Development 
Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior to adoption 
of this ordinance, except as specifically provided 
herein. 

 
 
III. General Regulations: All regulations of the Neighborhood 

Services (NS) District as set forth in Chapter 2 of the 
Garland Development Code, Ordinance 6773, are included 
by reference and shall apply, except as otherwise 
specified by this ordinance. 
 
 

IV. Development Plans: 
 

Concept Plan: Development shall be in general 
conformance with the Concept Plan labeled Exhibit C. In 
the event there is conflict between the approved Concept 
Plan and the Specific Regulations below, the Specific 
Regulations shall apply. 

 
 
V. Specific Conditions: 
 

A. Permitted Uses: In addition to the uses permitted within 
the Neighborhood Services (NS) District, Convenience 
Store Use shall be allowed by right, and Fuel Pumps, 
Retail allowed by SUP. 
 

B. Concept Plan: The site layout, building placement, 
parking, walking paths, and other development proposed 
shall be in general conformance with the approved 
Concept Plan labeled Exhibit C. 

 
 
 



   

EXHIBIT B 

 
SPECIFIC USE PROVISION  

 
ZONING FILE Z 24-18 

 
4151 North Garland Avenue 

 
[Requested by the Applicant] 

 
 
 
I. Statement of Purpose:  The purpose of this Specific Use 

Provision is to allow a Convenience Store with Fuel 
Pumps, Retail Use. 

 
II. Statement of Effect:  This Specific Use Provision shall 

not affect any regulation found in the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 
to adoption of this ordinance, except as specifically 
provided herein. 

 
III. General Regulations:  All regulations of the 

Neighborhood Services (NS) District as set forth in 
Chapter 2 of the Garland Development Code Ordinance 
6773, are included by reference and shall apply, except 
as otherwise specified by this ordinance. 
 

IV. Abandonment:   In the event the land use for which this 
Specific Use Provision was granted (“Land Use”) is 
abandoned, the SUP and all rights to the Land Use are 
automatically terminated, and the premises must be used 
in conformance with the PD, GDC, federal, and state law.  
 
For the purposes of this Specific Use Provision, 
Abandonment is any of the following acts: 
 

 
A. A failure to apply for a site or building permit on 

the premises, where applicable, within 180 days of 
the effective date of this SUP; 
 

B. A failure to obtain a certificate of occupancy for 
the Land use within 730 days of the effective date of 
this SUP; 
 

C. A failure to commence operating the Land Use on the 
premises within 90 days of receiving a final 
certificate of occupancy for the Land Use; 
 

D. Discontinuance of the Land Use for a period of 180 
days; 
 



   

EXHIBIT B 

E. Applying for, and receiving, a new Certificate of 
Occupancy for a use other than the Land Use; or 

 
F. Operating a use on the premises, whether as a primary 

or secondary use, that is not allowed within the PD 
District, by the GDC, or by state or federal law. 

 
The termination of utilities on the premises for a period 
of 180 calendar days is prima facie evidence of 
abandonment and the owner shall have the burden to prove 
that the Land Use has not been abandoned. 

 
 

V. Specific Regulations:   
 

Time Period:  The Specific Use Provision shall have a 
twenty-five (25) year time period. 

 





   
 

 

Z 24-18 
 
 

  

View of the subject site from Arapaho Road. View from the subject site looking Northeast up North 
Garland Avenue. 

 
 
 

 

View from the subject site looking Southwest down 
North Garland Avenue. 

View from the subject site looking Northwest up 
Arapaho Road. 









GARLANDGARLAND   
  

  
Plan CommissionPlan Commission 3. b. 3. b.             
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 03/10/2025  
Item Tit le:Item Tit le: Z 25-04 David Najafi and Bobtown Enterprises Inc (District 3)
Summary:Summary:
Hold a public hearing and consider the application of David Najafi and Bobtown Enterprises Inc.David Najafi and Bobtown Enterprises Inc. , requesting
approval of a Change in Zoning from Community Office (CO) to Community Retail (CR). (District 3) (File Z 25-04)

AttachmentsAttachments
Z 25-04 David Najafi and Bobtown Enterprises Inc. Report & Attachments
Z 25-04 David Najafi and Bobtown Enterprises Inc. Responses



 

Planning Report 
File No: Z 25-04/District 3 
Agenda Item: 3 
Meeting: Plan Commission 
Date: March 10, 2025 
 
REQUEST 
Approval of a Change in Zoning from Community Office (CO) to Community Retail (CR) 
 
LOCATION 
429 & 455 East Interstate Highway 30 
 
APPLICANT 
David Najafi and Bobtown Enterprises Inc  
 
OWNER 
Bobtown Enterprises Inc 
 
BACKGROUND 
The subject property is currently zoned Community Office (CO). The property owner wishes 
to have the zoning changed to Community Retail to allow a broader range of uses in his 
unleased units.  

The property was previously zoned Freeway District (FW) before being changed to 
Community Office (CO) in 2015 when the GDC was adopted. CO restricts more intense uses 
that may have otherwise be permitted in the FW District given the property’s proximity to 
Interstate Highway 30.  

The site did not begin construction until 2017 and is a general retail space with vacant units 
for lease.   

SITE DATA 
The subject site is 3.792 acres and is accessed from Bobtown Road and Interstate I-30 
Service Road. This strip center type development currently has a few businesses in 
operation, such as a donut shop and a dental office. 

USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING 
The site is zoned Community Office (CO). The Community Office (CO) district is intended to 
create an appropriate setting for medium and higher intensity office and professional uses. 
The district may be used as a transition district between low intensity office/retail uses and 
more intense uses. It is also generally appropriate along major transportation corridors. 
However, the CO district is generally not appropriate in proximity to low-density residential 
districts. Examples of allowed uses in a CO district are professional offices, campus-style 
corporate office, research, and assembly operations that may be large in scale but that are 
conducted wholly within a building(s) with very limited or no outside storage. The 
Community Office district is intended to serve the larger community and region with 
professional office services and job opportunities. Where feasible, provision must be made 
for pedestrian access and convenience by connecting directly with sidewalks and trails to 
and from neighborhoods, shopping areas, and other employment centers. 
 
 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 
 
 
CONSIDERATIONS  
 
Zoning:  
   
1. 1. The request is a traditional rezoning without the formation of a Planned Development 

(PD) District. These requests do not require Concept Plan approval to commence or 
direct development. Development is dependent on the standards set forth by the 
Garland Development Code (GDC) and the goals and policies established within the 
Envision Garland 2030 Comprehensive Plan. This Change in Zoning is not intended to 
restrict uses or secure development performances beyond what is permitted within the 
proposed zoning district and the GDC. Accordingly, the GDC requires careful 
consideration as to how closely the proposed district follows the policies of the Envision 
Garland 2030 Comprehensive Plan, and to what degree the rezoning will affect 
surrounding and future development. 
 

2. In the event the Zoning Change request is approved, uses allowed in Community Retail 
(CR) will have to obtain a Certificate of Occupancy to operate.  

 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Future Land Use Map of the Envision Garland Plan recommends Employment Centers 
with a Business Center subcategory for the subject site. Employment centers are areas with 
concentrated options for high-quality, business environments within the city. Employment 
Centers support major employers and suppliers, along with providing services and amenities 
for employees. 
 
Business centers provide a cluster of business offices and/or low impact industry, including 
campus-type development, that cumulatively employ large numbers of people.  Operations 
within this development type occur internal to buildings resulting in minimal negative 
impacts (sound, air, traffic, outdoor lighting, storage, etc.) and are compatible with adjacent 
development types in architecture, character, scale, and intensity.  
 
Business centers are generally located at intersections of major and/or secondary arterial 
streets or significant transit areas (bus/rail).  Proximity and access to residential areas are 
encouraged to reduce travel times to employment. Site design addresses function and visual 
aesthetics providing appropriate buffering at gateway corridors, between adjacent 
developments, and for residential neighborhoods. 
 
Business centers range in scale and intensity based on the surrounding vicinity and may 
consist of one or more buildings.  This development type includes a variety of primary and 
secondary uses, including compatible residential uses, that support the business 
employment sector. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                
COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES 
The properties to the North are zoned MF-1 and contain a Multi-Family Development. The 
properties to the East are zoned PD 97-16 and PD 97-51. PD 97-16 contains a Restaurant 
with Drive Through and PD 97-51 Contains a Convenience Store with Retail Fuel Pumps. The 
property to the west is zoned Community Office and is a vacant lot. Finally, the properties 
to the South are across Interstate Highway 30 and contain vacant land as well as a 
Convenience Store with Retail Fuel Pumps both zoned Community Office (CO).  
 



Page 3 of 3 
 
The surrounding uses are Multifamily, Retail and Commercial uses. Community Retail allows 
for more intensive uses which are not compatible with the surrounding area or future land 
use projections in the Comprehensive Plan. Automobile Leasing/Rental and Laundry-Self 
Service (Laundromat) are examples of uses allowed in CR that would not be allowed in NS.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Plan Commission consider a zoning change to Neighborhood Services 
(NS) instead of Community Retail (CR). NS would invite an array of uses that encompasses 
the vision of the Comprehensive Plan as well as the surrounding zoning and uses. Since NS 
is a less intensive and more restrictive district than CR, the Plan Commission would be able 
to make that recommendation without additional notifications. 
 
Additionally, the City Council has recently approved an amendment to the Land Use Chart to 
allow restaurant uses by right in the NS district. With that change, NS district is the most 
appropriate for this site per staff’s evaluation. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
i. Location Map 
ii. Site Photos 
 
CITY COUNCIL DATE: April 1, 2025 
 
PREPARED BY:     REVIEWED BY: 
David Jones Emma Chetuya Ph.D., AICP 
Planner I Planning Administrator 
Planning & Development Planning and Development 
972-205-2460 972-205-2453 
mwolverton@garlandtx.gov  echetuya@garlandtx.gov 
  

mailto:mwolverton@garlandtx.gov
mailto:echetuya@garlandtx.gov


B
O

B
TO

W
N

 R
D

R
O

A
N

 R
D

W
IS

E
 LN

E I30 SERVICE RD N

E I30 SERVICE RD S
E I30 FRWYE I30 FRWY

E I30 ROAN OFF S

EASTON MEADOWS DR

E I30 ON N

P D  9 7 - 5 1P D  9 7 - 5 1

P D  9 7 - 1 6P D  9 7 - 1 6

P D  9 6 - 5 2P D  9 6 - 5 2

S  0 7 - 3 2S  0 7 - 3 2

M F - 1M F - 1

S  0 4 - 5 9S  0 4 - 5 9

C OC O

P D  1 7 - 2 6P D  1 7 - 2 6

P D  1 9 - 2 2P D  1 9 - 2 2

S  2 2 - 3 3S  2 2 - 3 3

P D  2 3 - 2 7P D  2 3 - 2 7
P D / S
2 2 - 7 8
P D / S
2 2 - 7 8

S  1 5 - 0 3S  1 5 - 0 3

3705

3614

3802

4147

3826

3702

4001

3618

4151
3830

4025

4015
501

3605

3609

3601

3718

430

444

3809

4101
3701

440

3805

450

3818

3710 3822
3602

4109

4141

3814

375

429

3902

455

4054

3785

5356

375

375

375
375

375
375

375
375
375
375
375

375375
375375

375375

375
375

375
375
375

375

375
375

375

375 375
375
375
375
375
375
375
375
375
375

375 375
375

375

3826

4001
4001

430
430

Zoning Map 25-04 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

429 & 455 E Interstate Highway 30

¯
0 400200 Feet



 

Facing North 

 

Facing South 



 

Facing East 

 

Facing West 



B
O

B
TO

W
N

 R
D

R
O

A
N

 R
D

W
IS

E
 LN

E I30 SERVICE RD N

E I30 SERVICE RD S
E I30 FRWYE I30 FRWY

E I30 ROAN OFF S

EASTON MEADOWS DR

E I30 ON N

3705

3614

3802

4147

3826

3702

4001

3618

4151
3830

4025

4015
501

3605

3609

3601

3718

430

444

3809

4101
3701

440

3805

450

3818

3710 3822
3602

4109

4141

3814

375

429

3902

455

4054

3785

5356

375

375

375
375

375
375

375
375
375
375
375

375375
375375

375375

375
375

375
375
375

375

375
375

375

375 375
375
375
375
375
375
375
375
375
375

375 375
375

375

3826

4001
4001

430
430

Zoning Map 25-04 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

INDICATES
NOTIFICATION AREA

429 & 455 E Interstate Highway 30

¯
0 400200 Feet



To date we have not received any responses for this case. 



GARLANDGARLAND   
  

  
Plan CommissionPlan Commission 3. c. 3. c .             
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 03/10/2025  
Item Tit le:Item Tit le: GDC Amendment ORD 25-04
Summary:Summary:
Hold a public hearing to consider amendments to Chapter 2, Article 5 Use Regulations, Chapter 2, Attachment 1 -- Land
Use Matrix as it relates to Commercial Drone Delivery Hub, and Chapter 6 Definitions.  

Background/Addit ional Information:Background/Addit ional Information:
UPDATEUPDATE

Since the last Plan Commission meeting, Staff has found out that the proposed ordinance intends to regulate Commercial
Drone Delivery Hubs as a primary use only. The intent is not to regulate it as an accessory use. There were also questions
about the distance requirements that are being proposed. Staff found out that the distance requirements were discussed by
the Development Services Committee, and they were modeled after the only other major city that currently has similar
regulations (City of Plano). There were questions about safety and insurance, which may not be regulated with this
ordinance as the City has no authority over the drone when it is not on the ground.

BACKGROUNDBACKGROUND

With the increasing use of commercial drone delivery options by many businesses, the Development Services Committee
has recently evaluated the feasibility of incorporating regulations for those facilities and reported out to City Council
recommending the following updates:

Creating definitions for the following new terms:
Commercial Drone Delivery Hub (Large) -- takeoff weight of 55 pounds or over
Commercial Drone Delivery Hub (small) -- takeoff weight of under 55 pounds Drone Staging Area

Establishing setbacks and placement requirements for the drone staging area
Formulating screening requirements for equipment/accessory structure
Regulating proximity to noise-sensitive uses
Establishing parking and loading requirements
Formulating specific hours of operation 
Updating the use chart as shown below (requiring SUP for these uses):

 

 AGAG SF-SF-
EE

SF-SF-
1010

SF-SF-
77

SF-SF-
55 SFASFA 2F2F

MFMF
(MF-(MF-
0,0,
MF-MF-
11
andand
MF-MF-
2)2)

NONO COCO NSNS CRCR LCLC HCHC ININ URUR UBUB
DTDT
(see(see
Ch.Ch.
7)7)

ParkingParking
RequirementsRequirements

Cross-Cross-
Reference(s)Reference(s)
for Specialfor Special
StandardsStandards

Commercial
Drone
Delivery
Hub (large)

              S     2.52 (38)

Commercial
Drone
Delivery
Hub (small)

           S S S S     2.52 (38)



City Council members unanimously conveyed that they were in favor of considering these changes, which is why, staff is
bringing forward the ordinance amendment.

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONSTAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends approval of the GDC amendment.

AttachmentsAttachments
GDC Amendment ORD 25-04 Ordinance



1

ORDINANCE NO. XXXXX

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING VARIOUS SECTIONS OF CHAPTER 2, “ZONING
REGULATIONS,” THE LAND USE MATRIX OF CHAPTER 2, AND CHAPTER
6, “DEFINITIONS” OF THE GARLAND DEVELOPMENT CODE OF THE CITY
OF GARLAND, TEXAS; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; A SEVERABILITY
CLAUSE; AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARLAND,
TEXAS:

Section 1

That Section 2.52 “Special Standards for Certain Uses,” of
Chapter 2, Article 5, “Use Regulations,” of the Garland
Development Code of the City of Garland, Texas, is hereby
amended by addition to add Section 2.52(A)(38) and to read as
follows:

“Section 2.52 Special Standards for Certain Uses

. . .

(38) Commercial Drone Delivery Hubs. A Commercial Drone
Delivery Hub must comply with the following standards and
conditions, and any property specific standards expressly
provided for in the Specific Use Provision:

(a) Commercial Drone Delivery Hubs (large). A
commercial drone delivery hub (large) may be
allowed, if and where granted a specific use
provision, in an Industrial district if the
requirements of this section are met.

(b) Commercial Drone Delivery Hubs (small). A
commercial drone delivery hub (small) is allowed as
a primary use, if and where granted a specific use
provision, in the Industrial, Heavy Commercial,
Light Commercial, and Community Retail districts
when the requirements of this section are met.

(c)Drone Staging Areas.

i. The drone staging area must be designated
on a site plan.



2

ii. The drone staging area must not be
placed;

a. Within any required building setbacks;

b. Within any required landscape edge;

c. Withing fire lanes, easements,
maneuvering aisles, customer pick-up
lanes, or required loading zones or
parking spaces; or

d. So as to obstruct visibility or
interfere with pedestrian or vehicle
circulation.

iii. When located at grade, any goods,
materials, containers, trailers, or
other equipment must be screened
according to the requirements for open
storage consistent with Division 5,
Article 3 of Chapter 4 of this GDC.
Landing pads are exempt from this
screening requirement. The Plan
Commission may waive the requirements
with approval of a site plan.

iv. When a drone staging area is located on
top of a building:

a. Any roof-mounted mechanical equipment,
excluding landing pads, is subject to
the mechanical screening requirements
in consistent with section 4.46
Screening of Roof- and Ground-Mounted
Mechanical Equipment of this GDC, and
 

b. Any additional structure, parapet
wall, screening, safety railing, or
other appurtenance associated with the
commercial drone delivery hub is
subject to the maximum heigh
requirement of the district, except a
single mast up to 10 feet in height for



3

a windsock may exceed the maximum
height requirement.

v. Antennas and antenna support structures
are subject to the requirements
consistent with Division 5, Article 5 of
Chapter 2 of this GDC.

vi. Proximity to Noise-Sensitive Uses

a. The drone staging area for a
commercial drone delivery hub (small)
shall not be located within 150 feet
of any property upon which a
residential dwelling is located.

b. The drone staging area for a
commercial drone delivery hub (large)
shall not be located withing 300 feet
of any property upon which a
residential dwelling is located.

c. The measurement of the required buffer
is to be made in a straight horizontal
line from the edge of the drone staging
area to the closest property line of a
property containing a residential
dwelling.

d. Notwithstanding any provision
contained herein to the contrary,
sound levels may not exceed the
limitations on environmental sound
levels described in Section 22.69 of
the Code of Ordinances.

e. Sound study.

i. The minimum distances contained
within this subsection may be
lowered if the applicant can
present evidence to the Plan
Director from a sound study that
the proposed drone delivery hub,
when drones are immediately
taking off, produces less than 70
dba when measured from the



4

nearest residential property
boundary.

ii. For purposes of this section, a
sound study must be prepared by a
professionally accredited or
licensed acoustical consultant or
acoustical engineer.

iii. In the event the minimum required
distances are lowered due to a
sound study, drone delivery hub
operations may not continue after
9:00 p.m.

(d)  Parking and loading.

i.   Parking is not required for an accessory
commercial drone delivery hub use.

ii.  Loading spaces shall be provided for a
commercial drone delivery hub as
required by Section 4.22 of this GDC.
Loading spaces shall not be required for
an accessory commercial drone delivery
hub use.

iii. There shall be one parking space per
1,000 square feet of areas designated for
storage or warehousing, plus one space
per 300 square feet of floor area for
office, customer service, or other areas.

...”

Section 2

That the “Land Use Matrix,” of Chapter 2, of the Garland
Development Code of the City of Garland, Texas, is hereby
amended in part under “Commercial Uses,” as more particularly
depicted and described in Exhibit “A”, which is attached
hereto and incorporated herein by reference.



5

Section 3

That 6.03 “Definitions” of Chapter 6, “Definitions” of the
Garland Development Code of the City of Garland, Texas, is
hereby amended by addition to read as follows:

“Section 6.03 Definitions

...
Commercial Drone Delivery Hub (Large): An area of land,
structural surface, building, or structure with one or
more designated drone staging areas for use by unmanned
aircraft, including but not limited to those defined
under Commercial Drone Delivery Hub (Small), to
distribute commercial goods by air. This includes any
appurtenant areas used or intended for use for unmanned
aircraft system buildings, structures, and other
facilities.

Commercial Drone Delivery Hub (Small): An area of land,
structural surface, building, or structure with one or
more designated drone staging areas for use by small,
unmanned aircraft systems (sUAS) under 55 pounds total
takeoff weight or as defined in Section 44801 of Title
49, United States Code, as amended, whichever is the
lesser, to distribute commercial goods by air. This
includes any appurtenant areas used or intended for use
for unmanned aircraft system buildings, structures, and
other facilities.

...
Drone Staging Area: a designated area over which an
unmanned aircraft completes the final phase of the
approach, to a hover or a landing, and from which an
unmanned aircraft initiates take-off. The Drone Staging
Area includes both the launch pads and any required
safety areas, and may include areas for the outdoor
storage of goods, materials, containers, trailers, or
other equipment.

...”

Section 4

That Chapter 2 of the Garland Development Code shall be and
remain in full force and effect save and except as amended by
this Ordinance.



6

Section 5

That a violation of any provision of this Ordinance shall be
a misdemeanor punishable in accordance with Sec. 10.05 of the
Code of Ordinances of the City of Garland, Texas.

Section 6

That the terms and provisions of this Ordinance are severable
and are governed by Sec. 1.07 of the Garland Development Code
of the City of Garland, Texas.

Section 7

That this ordinance shall be and become effective immediately
upon and after its passage and approval.

PASSED AND APPROVED this [   ] day of [    ] 2024.

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS

__________________________
Mayor

ATTEST:

________________________ PUBLISHED:
City Secretary


	Agenda
	AI_10747_Plan Commission Minutes for February 24, 2025
	       ATT_February 24, 2025 Plan Commission Minutes
	MINUTES

	AI_10748_P 25-03 Kiddie Academy, Brand 190 Addition Fifth Replat - Final Plat 
	       ATT_P 25-03 Kiddie Academy, Brand 190 Addition Fifth Replat - Final Plat Report and Attachments
	AI_10749_Z 24-18 Tarmandeep Toor (District 7)
	       ATT_Z 24-18 Tarmandeep Toor Report and Attachments
	       ATT_Z 24-18 Tarmandeep Toor Responses
	AI_10750_Z 25-04 David Najafi and Bobtown Enterprises Inc (District 3)
	       ATT_Z 25-04 David Najafi and Bobtown Enterprises Inc. Report and Attachments
	       ATT_Z 25-04 David Najafi and Bobtown Enterprises Inc. Responses
	AI_10755_GDC Amendment ORD 25-04
	       ATT_GDC Amendment ORD 25-04 Ordinance

